

Ageing and frailty

Draft standards for the care of older people



We are committed to advancing equality, promoting diversity and championing human rights. These standards are intended to enhance improvements in health and social care for everyone, regardless of their age, disability, gender identity, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation, socioeconomic status or any other status. Suggested aspects to consider and recommended practice throughout these standards should be interpreted as being inclusive of everyone living in Scotland.

We carried out an equality impact assessment (EQIA) to help us consider if everyone accessing health and social care services will experience the intended benefits of these standards in a fair and equitable way. A copy of the EQIA is available on request.

Healthcare Improvement Scotland is committed to ensuring that our standards are up-to-date, fit for purpose and informed by high quality evidence and best practice. We consistently assess the validity of our standards, working with partners across health and social care, the third sector and those with lived and living experience. We encourage you to contact the standards and indicators team at his.standardsandindicators@nhs.scot to notify us of any updates that might require consideration.

Healthcare Improvement Scotland Year

Published April 2024

This document is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-Noncommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International Licence. This allows for the copy and redistribution of this document as long as Healthcare Improvement Scotland is fully acknowledged and given credit. The material must not be remixed, transformed or built upon in any way. To view a copy of this licence, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org

Contents

Introduction	4
How to participate in the consultation process	9
Summary of standards	10
Standard 1: Service design	11
Standard 2: Identification and assessment	14
Standard 3: Person-led care coordination and future care planning	17
Standard 4: Support for staff and care partners	21
Standard 5: Keeping active	25
Standard 6: Nutrition and hydration	29
Standard 7: Medicines management	32
Standard 8: Living and dying well	36
Standard 9: Care in hospital	40
Standard 10: Delirium, dementia and cognition	44
Standard 11: Mental health	47
Appendix 1: Development of the ageing and frailty standards	50
Appendix 2: Membership of the Standards Development Group	52
Appendix 3: Membership of the Standards Steering Group	55
References	57

Introduction

These standards update and replace Healthcare Improvement Scotland's Standards of Care for Older People in Hospital (2015). The new standards will apply in all settings where frail older people receive health and social care. They provide a benchmark for progress towards nationally consistent integrated frailty services that put people and their rights at the centre.

Frailty

When a person is living with frailty, their body systems are gradually losing their in-built reserves, leaving them vulnerable to significant changes in their health or circumstances. They can experience difficulty recovering from an injury, infection or illness.¹ People with frailty are likely to experience falls, immobility, delirium, incontinence and susceptibility to side effects of medication.², ³ As a person's frailty increases, they may find it more difficult to live independently and may require additional support and care.⁴ People with frailty have an increased risk of admission to hospital.⁵ Disability may also lead to reduced functional ability, but this does not automatically equate to frailty.

Older people who also live with frailty are amongst the most vulnerable in our society. They can be at risk of harm if we do not understand and address their needs, or if our systems and services are inadequate, ineffective or poorly coordinated. Frailty is not an inevitable consequence of ageing and many people live well into their 80s and 90s without ever being frail. Younger people living with disability may have reduced function, but this does not automatically equate to frailty. Coordinated multiagency care supports and enables people experiencing frailty to remain as independent as possible. If a person is living with frailty, or is at risk of frailty, it can sometimes be prevented, reversed or slowed down.

Who the standards are for

While frailty can be experienced at any age, these standards are for people who experience frailty associated with ageing. The United Nations define an older person as someone above the age of 60. In the UK, 65 is traditionally used as the marker for the start of chronological older age. **Biological ageing** refers to the changes to an individual person's body and mind that occur over time. While chronological age cannot be modified, biological ageing can be impacted by a range of factors. These include a person's socioeconomic circumstances and lifestyle and any long-term health conditions and comorbidities,.³ A person's biological age can better help predict how frailty may develop and impact them.⁶ This approach supports Realistic Medicine and shared decision making.

These standards are for people who are both older and frail and who are most likely to benefit from integrated, multiagency planning and delivery of care.

Aims

The overall aim of these standards is to ensure national consistency in the quality of care that people receive. The standards aim to support national improvements in the care of older people with frailty.

These standards further aim to promote positive, healthy and active ageing. In line with the principles of Realistic Medicine, the standards are underpinned by the following key principles:

- services should have a focus on prevention and early intervention
- people's choices and what matters to them should be at the centre of discussions
- interventions should be the least intrusive or restrictive possible.

In meeting the standards, organisations will ensure that people:

- have the care and support they need to maximise enjoyment of life
- have choice, autonomy and ownership of their life
- experience a palliative care approach that helps them to live well with deteriorating health
- work in partnership to make decisions about their health and care based on what matters to them.

Policy context

Standards are underpinned by human rights and seek to provide better outcomes for older people with frailty. The United Nations Principles for Older Persons were adopted by the UN General Assembly (Resolution 46/91) on 16 December 1991. Governments are encouraged to incorporate them into their national programmes whenever possible. The 18 principles, can be grouped under five themes: independence, participation, care, self-fulfilment and dignity.⁷

The ageing and frailty standards should be read alongside:

- Health and social care standards: my support, my life⁸
- International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights⁹
- United Nations Convention on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women¹⁰
- United Nations Convention on the Rights of Disabled People¹¹

- General Comment No. 22 from the UN Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights¹²
- Realistic Medicine doing the right thing (2023)¹³
- Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000¹⁴
- My Health, My Care, My Home healthcare framework for adults living in care homes (2022)¹⁵
- Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act (2019)¹⁶
- Palliative care strategy (2024)¹⁷
- Dementia Strategy Dementia in Scotland: Everyone's Story (2023)¹⁸
- Health and Social care: data strategy (2023)¹⁹
- Discovering meaning, purpose and hope through person centred wellbeing and spiritual care: framework.²⁰
- Getting it right for everyone principles (GIRFE).²¹

Implementation

The <u>Healthcare Improvement Scotland Quality Management System (QMS) Framework</u> supports health and social care organisations to apply a consistent and coordinated approach to the management of the quality of health and care services. By using standards as part of a quality management system, organisations can work in partnership to develop learning, plan improvement and understand their whole system. Central to this is the relationship between people, their care partners and organisations.

Healthcare Improvement Scotland leads national improvement work focusing on frailty. In 2022, we published the findings of a 90-day learning cycle on frailty. This involved a review of the published literature on frailty and interviews with people with lived experience as well as health and social care professionals specialising in frailty. The report described the seven core components of an integrated frailty system.

Following this, we launched the Focus on Frailty improvement and implementation programme. The programme aims to improve the early identification and assessment of frailty with a view to improving access to person-centred and coordinated health and social care services. We also host a national frailty learning system with over 1,200 members. Through the learning system, members share practice examples, tools and resources relating to frailty improvement work. For further information about the network, please contact his.acutecare@nhs.scot.

The ageing and frailty standards will support the spread of person-centred approaches to care and support for people living with frailty. The standards will also support improvements to the early identification and assessment of frailty.

HIS may use these standards in a range of assurance and inspection activities. They may be used to review the quality and registration, where appropriate, of health and social care services.

Format of the standards

All HIS standards follow the same format. Each standard includes:

- an overarching standard statement
- a rationale explaining why the standard is important
- a list of criteria describing what is needed to meet the standard
- what the standard means if you are a person living with frailty
- what the standard means if you are a member of staff
- what the standard means for organisations
- examples of what meeting the standard looks like in practice.

Terminology

Wherever possible, we have used generic terminology which can be applied across all health and social care settings. The terms 'people', 'person' or 'individual' are used within the criteria to refer to the person receiving care or support.

The term **care partner** refers to any person or representative the individual wishes to be involved in their care. Care partners are generally unpaid carers who provide or intend to provide care for an individual.²²

The term **family** refers to a person's life partner, siblings, parents, foster carers, kinship carers, adoptive families and extended family.

Staff refers to people who are employed to provide health and care support to an individual. It includes those defined in the Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019. ¹⁶

Palliative care is an approach that improves the quality of life of people, and their families, who are living with one or more advanced or progressive health conditions. It prevents and relieves suffering through the early identification, correct assessment and holistic management of pain and other problems, whether physical, mental, social or spiritual.

Future care planning involves conversations between individuals, their care partners and health or social care staff. It is an ongoing process that helps people talk about what matters to them in their lives, including if their health or care should change. Future care planning also gives people opportunities to discuss realistic options for treatment and care so they have a personalised future care plan that can be recorded, shared and reviewed.

Organisation refers to all health and social care providers or services that support older people with frailty. It includes NHS boards, social care providers, third sector and independent care providers.

How to participate in the consultation process

We welcome feedback on the draft standards and will review every comment received. We are using different methods of consultation, including:

- online and face-to face engagement
- meeting and event attendance to raise awareness and hear feedback
- an online survey: https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/4SH8OS/

Submitting your comments

Responses to the draft standards should be submitted using our online survey: https://www.smartsurvey.co.uk/s/4SH8OS/.

The consultation closes on **18 June**. If you would like to submit your comments using a different format, please contact the project team on his.standardsandindicators@nhs.scot.

Consultation feedback

At the end of the consultation period, all comments will be collated and the Standards Development Group will create a response to each comment received on the draft standards. The response will explain how the comments were taken into account in producing the final standards.

A summary of the responses to the consultation will be made available on <u>request</u> from the project team at <u>his.standardsandindicators@nhs.scot</u>.

The final standards will be published in November 2024.

Summary of standards

Standard 1: Service design

Organisations demonstrate effective integration of frailty services and embed continuous system-wide improvement.

Standard 2: Identification and assessment

Organisations have systems in place to identify, assess and plan for the needs of older people with frailty at the earliest opportunity.

Standard 3: Person-led care coordination and future care planning

People are at the centre of their care and are actively involved in decisions related to care coordination and future care planning.

Standard 4: Support for staff and care partners

Staff and care partners are valued, supported and trained.

Standard 5: Keeping active

Older people with frailty are supported to keep active to maintain and improve mobility, independence and function.

Standard 6: Nutrition and hydration

Older people with frailty have their nutritional and hydration needs identified and met.

Standard 7: Medicines management

Older people with frailty are supported to discuss and understand the benefits, risks and alternatives of medicines and their medicines are regularly reviewed.

Standard 8: Living and dying well

People's wellbeing and enjoyment of older age is maximised and they are enabled to live well until the end of their life.

Standard 9: Care in hospital

Frail older people in hospital receive equitable, compassionate and safe care that promotes wellbeing and reduces the risk of harm.

Standard 10: Delirium, dementia and cognition

Older people experiencing a change in their cognition or mental state are identified, understood and supported.

Standard 11: Mental health

Older people with frailty have their mental health assessed and supported.

Standard 1: Service design

Standard statement

Organisations demonstrate effective integration of frailty services and embed continuous system-wide improvement.

Rationale

Older people use health and social care services more than any other population group. It is essential that these services are developed with the needs of older people in mind. Older people with frailty should be central to how services are designed, coordinated and delivered. Organisations should demonstrate their commitment to Getting it right for Everyone (GIRFE) through service design, coordination and delivery. This includes designing services in collaboration with older people with frailty.

Organisations should have a shared vision for healthy ageing and for preventing and managing frailty. ²³ Effective integration requires a fundamental shift in culture towards preventative, rights-based, integrated services. ^{8, 24, 25} The aims, vision and outcomes of a service or organisation should focus on the needs and rights of people. This includes the right to visits from a care partner. Information should be shared in line with national protocols to support multiagency working.⁴

A quality management system can support services to embed continuous quality improvement. ¹⁸⁻²⁰ High quality data should be used to measure improvement in outcomes that matter to people.

Digital technology, including artificial intelligence, can help identify and manage frailty. ²⁶ As organisations evolve, they should ensure that use of new technology is effective and ethical. ^{27, 28} This includes artificial intelligence, wearable technology and digital information systems. ^{19, 29-31} Technology should be used within the principles of informed consent and person-centred care.

Criteria

- **1.1** Organisations have a clear, system-wide strategic vision for the integrated delivery of services for older people with frailty that embeds the principles of GIRFE.
- **1.2** Organisations work to a jointly-agreed multiagency delivery plan for integrated frailty services.
- **1.3** Organisations engage and involve older people as equal partners in:
 - the codesign of services
 - delivery of services
 - monitoring the impact of services.

- **1.4** Organisations implement a quality management system to:
 - plan and measure improvement in the care of older people with frailty
 - develop evidence-based practice
 - monitor and implement innovative practice
 - share learning across the whole system.
- 1.5 Information gained from frailty assessments is recorded and shared with appropriate professionals and agencies across the health and social care system.
- **1.6** Staff can view relevant real-time clinical and social care information, including:
 - pharmaceutical reviews and prescriptions
 - care plans
 - social work support assessments
 - rehabilitation plans
 - future care planning discussions
 - adult support and protection concerns, where appropriate.
- 1.7 Organisations complete a workforce needs analysis to identify safe staffing levels for their population and implement a plan to meet national guidance.³²
- 1.8 Organisations have policies and processes in place, including regular visits from a person's care partner, when isolation and guarantine are needed.
- 1.9 Organisations have processes in place for meaningful engagement with care partners to continuously improve support and communication across the whole system.
- **1.10** Organisations demonstrate ethical use of technology, including wearable technology, within the principles of informed consent and relevant legislation and guidance.

What does the standard mean for people?

- The system is designed around you and with you.
- You can be confident that services are working together for you.
- Your feedback and experiences are sought, valued and acted on.
- Your rights underpin an effective, joined-up system.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- work across the whole system to support people with frailty
- work towards a common goal and vision
- put people's rights at the centre of their work.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- work in partnership to support older people with frailty across the whole system
- have processes in place to share information across services and organisations to support integrated care
- can demonstrate their implementation of the Health and care Staffing Act (2021) in line with national guidance
- ensure rights are upheld
- design services in partnership with people who use them
- collate and monitor data relevant to people with frailty
- use data and feedback to measure improvement.

- Public engagement strategy and mechanisms for codesign.
- Future workforce plans in line with safe staffing legislation and guidance.
- Information sharing agreements.
- Routine data monitoring and development of a learning system.
- Policies and transparency re: wearable tech, cameras etc.
- Board or service champions for older people and frailty.
- Audits for ethical decision making.

Standard 2: Identification and assessment

Standard statement

Organisations have systems in place to identify, assess and plan for the needs of older people with frailty at the earliest opportunity.

Rationale

Identifying frailty enables people to receive care in the right place at the right time. Once identified, people with frailty can be offered evidence-based interventions. Early identification supports future care planning and care around death. This includes discussions about preventative measures, medications and appropriate care.^{23, 33}

Screening tools may be used to identify older people with frailty. The selection of tools should reflect the service, setting and population. Large-scale identification of frailty can be used to plan data-informed services at a strategic level.

People with frailty should have access to further assessment in order to identify their needs, any reversible causes or any modifiable risk factors that might cause them harm in the future. Assessments of frailty should be holistic, exploring physical, cognitive, functional, social, spiritual and psychological domains. ³³ They should be relevant to the individual and take into account personal choices, circumstances and context.

For some people, referral to Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (CGA) may be appropriate. CGA is a multidimensional, multidisciplinary process that identifies medical, social and functional needs. It can support people to stay at home for longer.

Assessments should be repeated when there are changes in health or social care needs or when the person is dying. People and their care partners should be part of discussions at all stages.

Identifying any care partners at this time may also be hugely beneficial. Early referrals can be made to appropriate support and planning including advice on how to prepare an Adult Carer Support Plan.

Criteria

- **2.1** Organisations demonstrate the use of systematic approaches to:
 - identify the prevalence and characteristics of frailty in their population
 - use data to inform strategic planning, including workforce planning
 - implement effective prevention and healthy active ageing policies.

- 2.2 Organisations proactively identify frailty in older people who are:
 - admitted to hospital
 - at risk of frailty due to individual circumstances or care setting
 - being considered for specialist care (such as elective surgery).
- **2.3** Organisations identify frailty using an approach that is:
 - based on current evidence
 - validated or recommended by professional organisations
 - relevant to the care setting.
- 2.4 Staff identify where effective prevention and early support may reduce a person's risk of developing frailty.
- **2.5** People who have been identified as having frailty can access, as required:
 - a comprehensive, holistic assessment of their care needs relevant to the setting
 - timely, coordinated and ongoing support
 - services and adaptations appropriate to their needs
 - input from specialist services and multidisciplinary support
 - investigations and diagnostics to determine underlying causes.
- **2.6** Care partners of older people with frailty:
 - are identified as part of initial screening and assessments
 - have a support plan in place where appropriate.

What does the standard mean for people?

- Staff will talk to you and people close to you about how you are feeling and managing in your daily activities.
- Assessments of your health, care and support will focus on what matters to you and what you would like to be able to do.
- You will be offered care and support that is right for you as early as possible.
- Your care partner(s) will be identified and supported as early as possible.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- proactively recognise and identify frailty in the people they care for
- undertake relevant frailty assessments and investigations where frailty has been identified
- use information from frailty assessments to identify needs, balance risks and benefits of treatments and plan for the future
- identify care partners.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- ensure screening for frailty is routinely undertaken amongst relevant population groups
- ensure patients identified as frail are offered appropriate assessments
- have processes and protocols for CGA for people being admitted to hospital
- ensure information about a diagnosis of frailty and any subsequent assessments are shared appropriately.

- System-wide use of clinical risk stratification, frailty scores and electronic Frailty Index (eFI) in relevant settings.
- Data on frailty prevalence featuring in strategic commissioning plans and informing strategic decision making.
- Implementation of a universal referral process for frailty.
- National forums for raising awareness of frailty and how to identify it.
- Percentage of CGAs undertaken in relevant populations.
- Improvement in frailty scores following early community identification and intervention.
- Reduction in avoidable attendance to emergency departments following early identification and intervention.
- Evidence of frailty assessments informing future care planning.
- Identification flowcharts and decision making tools based on screening outcomes.

Standard 3: Person-led care coordination and future care planning

Standard statement

People are at the centre of their care and are actively involved in decisions related to care coordination and future care planning.

Rationale

People should receive the care they need from the right people at the right time. ³⁴ When professionals work together, people experience better outcomes. Staff should coordinate referrals, people's movement between services or places of care, follow-up and review. They should meet a person's changing needs and circumstances. ³⁵ A comprehensive and holistic assessment of the person's needs and preferences should begin at an early stage. Staff should have the information they need about a person to provide effective care. Communication between care providers should include appropriate documented information.

People need to have access to information to be part of discussions about their health and care. This includes information about frailty assessments and what may happen in the future. Identifying and meeting people's support needs enables people to play an active part in these discussions. This includes hearing, sensory and communication needs.

Future care helps people talk about what matters to them. It gives them opportunities to consider realistic, available options and helps them plan for future changes in their health and care. People should have the opportunity to review their future care plan as their condition or personal circumstances change.

Under the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016, care partners have a right to be involved in decisions relating to a person's health, care and future.²²

Criteria

- **3.1** People are central in all decisions made about their health, care and future.
- **3.2** People are informed about their rights and how they will be upheld.
- People have timely access to understandable and relevant information to enable them to participate in health and care decisions that affect them.

3.4 People are:

- asked about what and who matters to them
- supported to set and review personal goals and outcomes
- supported to take part in shared decision making.
- People are fully informed about what to expect in a particular place of care, including information about the physical environment, any assessments taking place, the results of tests and what may happen next.
- A multidisciplinary plan is developed and reviewed in partnership with the person. It includes:
 - details of the lead coordinating organisation and individual
 - roles and responsibilities of individuals and organisations
 - results of initial and subsequent assessments
 - results of medicines reviews, including ability to self-manage medication
 - the results of assessments and outcomes if a person has attended hospital
 - details of onward referrals or community support if a person is being discharged from hospital.
- **3.7** People are central to the development of a future care plan that includes:
 - information about who and what matters to the person
 - options for realistic treatments and care that are of overall benefit to the person
 - plans for holistic care around death when the person is dying
 - specific decisions about interventions and treatments, including resuscitation.
- **3.8** Care plans, including future care plans:
 - involve discussions with care partners, where appropriate
 - are shared with primary care and other health and social care community teams as appropriate
 - meet relevant professional standards and national guidance.
- 3.9 When a person is dying, this is recognised and shared with relevant health and care professionals to ensure they are comfortable, safe, in the right place at that time and with those who matter to them.

3.10 Care partners are fully involved in discussions about care arrangements, treatment, interventions or future care planning where appropriate.

What does the standard mean for people?

- You have access to information about your health and your care.
- You will have opportunities to discuss who and what matters to you.
- You will be supported to understand what is happening with your care.
- You will have the opportunity to ask questions about what may happen in the future.
- Your care partners can be included in discussions about you and your care.
- Information about your care will be written into a plan that will be shared with you and people who need it.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- consider a person's experiences, values and priorities at all stages of care planning
- recognise the importance of autonomy and the right of the individual to make informed decisions about their care
- include any care partners in discussions about a person's care as appropriate
- work effectively with other members of the multidisciplinary team to coordinate care
- have training and skills to lead conversations about future care planning.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- ensure people are cared for in the right place at the right time
- provide effective mechanisms to support multiagency working
- have processes and protocols to share information in line with best practice
- integrate future care planning with other care coordination and person-centred care
- involve care partners in care coordination and future care planning where appropriate.

- Decision support tools.
- Integrated single care plans, digital care plans, use of technology to transfer information.
- Key information summaries or clinical information shared as appropriate with multidisciplinary teams.
- Future care plans recorded, shared and reviewed.
- Assessment and identification protocols and procedures.
- Accessible documentation in a range of languages and formats
- Use of communication aids and tools.
- Use of tools and frameworks to support shared decision making.
- Feedback from people and care partners on their experience of communication.

Standard 4: Support for staff and care partners

Standard statement

Staff and care partners are valued, supported and trained.

Rationale

Skilled, trained and confident staff ensure that services are delivered to meet the needs of people who use them. Staff should understand their role and be supported within multidisciplinary teams. All staff, including care at home staff and paid carers, should receive ongoing accredited training and support appropriate to their roles and responsibilities. Services should ensure both appropriate numbers of staff and appropriate staff mix to meet the needs of their population.¹⁶

Care partners may require additional support as carers. They should be valued and supported for the role that they do and receive information or training as required. Section 1 of the 2016 Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 defines a 'carer' as an adult or child who provides or intends to provide care for another individual (unless that care is part of a contract or volunteering). Carers have a right to a support plan or Young Carers' Statement according to local eligibility criteria. Support should be holistic, tailored and preventative.²²

Criteria

- **4.1** Staff and care partners are:
 - valued and respected
 - trusted to make good decisions
 - included in decision making where appropriate
 - able to raise concerns about safety or when shared care is not working.
- 4.2 Organisations provide access and time for continuing professional development for staff caring for older people.
- **4.3** Organisations deliver training in risk enablement for staff to:
 - promote mobility and meaningful activity
 - prevent deconditioning
 - maximise choice, autonomy and quality of life.

- **4.4** Organisations provide care partners with access to, as required:
 - practical support to continue providing care
 - information specific to caring and their rights
 - adult or young carer support plans
 - short breaks from caring
 - information and signposting for financial support.
- **4.5** Care partners are:
 - able to access practical training, education and support, including peer support
 - informed about independent advocacy and how to access it
 - empowered and involved in all care settings to continue providing care if they choose.
- 4.6 Care partners know the mechanisms available to raise concerns about a person's care or support and, if these are not satisfactorily addressed, can access an independent complaints process.
- **4.7** Organisations provide training and time for staff to undertake assessments of frailty appropriate to their roles and responsibilities.
- 4.8 Staff are fully informed about their roles and responsibilities within the frailty pathway, the meaning of frailty assessments or screening and how to act on the results.
- **4.9** Staff can identify, understand and communicate with people who experience:
 - cognitive impairment
 - communication difficulties such as dysarthria and dysphasia
 - hearing or sensory loss
 - emotional distress.
- **4.10** Staff receive training appropriate to their roles and responsibilities about adult support and protection including:
 - patterns of abuse and coercive control
 - identification of an adult at risk of harm
 - local safeguarding protocols and processes.
- **4.11** Staff are supported to put innovation and improvement into practice.

- **4.12** Staff have an individual wellbeing support plan.
- **4.13** Staff and care partners receive support and information related to anticipatory grief, grief and bereavement support.³⁶
- **4.14** Staff can access bereavement support when impacted by loss in their workplace.

What does the standard mean for people?

- You will be cared for by skilled and knowledgeable staff.
- Your care partners are recognised and supported.
- You will be understood, listened to and treated with kindness and respect by staff.
- You will be supported to raise concerns and told how to access an independent complaints process.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- are given opportunities and time to develop and maintain the knowledge and skills required for their role
- are empowered and supported to do the right thing at the right time
- understand the role of care partners and appropriate legislation relating to carers
- are supported to speak out
- work in a culture where they are encouraged to learn and improve
- are supported with their own physical and mental wellbeing.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- ensure staffing levels are adequate
- ensure staff have access to appropriate training and continuous professional development
- have systems and processes in place to identify care partners and provide the support and training they need
- create a culture of learning and improvement
- ensure policies and processes are in place to support staff wellbeing.

- TURAS module uptake: care of older people.
- TURAS module uptake: delirium and dementia.
- Implementation of 'frailty at the front door' toolkits, training and change packages.
- Carers' policy or strategy embedded into working practices.
- Informal update of training and resources for care partners.
- Carers assessments.
- Frailty audits matched to staff requirement and safe staffing.
- Commissioning data for training provision from a range of sources including third sector delivery.
- Access to chaplains and spiritual care advisers.

Standard 5: Keeping active

Standard statement

Older people with frailty are supported to keep active to maintain and improve mobility, independence and function.

Rationale

Keeping physically active and mobile can reverse or prevent frailty and falls.³⁷ People with frailty have reported a sense of achievement, satisfaction and confidence when increasing their mobility through physical activity.³⁸ Social prescribing to community activities and social clubs, particularly outdoors, leads to reported higher quality of life.^{39, 40} It may support people to maintain their physical activity as they age.

People who are enabled, supported and encouraged to maintain and improve their mobility experience a higher quality of life as they age. ⁴¹ People should be supported to engage in meaningful and purposeful physical activity and to do things that are important to them. ⁴²⁻⁴⁴ People should be enabled and supported to make informed choices about movement and activity. ⁴⁵

Deconditioning is the decline in physical function of the body. This happens as a result of physical inactivity, bedrest or an extremely sedentary lifestyle. It is caused by immobility, for example during or after a period of acute illness or injury, surgery or hospitalisation. Up to 65% of older patients experience decline in function during hospitalisation. Sarcopenia is an age-related progressive loss of muscle mass, function and strength. People with sarcopenia are three times more likely to fall during a follow-up period of two years. A comprehensive assessment followed by multidomain interventions should be undertaken to reduce falls in older adults living in a care home or staying in hospital.

Criteria

- **5.1** People are provided with advice and information in a language and format that meets their needs about:
 - how to improve or maintain mobility
 - how to reduce deconditioning
 - their likelihood of falling
 - how to set and track physical activity goals that are important to them.

- **5.2** Organisations have a process for multidomain falls assessments⁴⁸ that includes discussion with the person and covers:
 - mobility
 - sensory function
 - activities of daily living
 - cognitive function
 - autonomic function
 - medical diagnoses
 - medication and polypharmacy
 - nutrition and hydration
 - risk of falls caused by their environment.
- **5.3** Staff are trained and supported to:
 - promote and encourage mobility and independence in all care settings
 - reduce the likelihood of falls
 - provide tailored education on falls prevention.
- **5.4** People with identified falls risk factors have a care plan to meet their needs that:
 - is developed with the person
 - is shared in an appropriate language and format
 - includes a seven-step polypharmacy review.
- 5.5 Organisations ensure that processes, environments and services enable physical activity and movement.
- People with frailty receive a home assessment from an appropriately skilled professional to optimise their independence and safety at home (including care homes).
- **5.7** People have access to advanced technology to:
 - enable them to maintain mobility and independence
 - detect when a fall has happened or allow the person to call for immediate help.

- **5.8** People at high risk of falls are involved in developing a multidisciplinary rehabilitation plan that includes:
 - goals and outcomes
 - a progressive exercise programme for a minimum of 12 weeks⁴⁸ which is community-based where appropriate
 - rapid provision of equipment, for example equipment or adaptations to the person's home (or care home)
 - clinically safe alternatives to hospital care
 - support to maintain their skills and function in hospital while they wait for discharge.
- **5.9** Goal-focused and person-led rehabilitation and prehabilitation is carried out by a multidisciplinary team with relevant skills and expertise.
- **5.10** People with advanced frailty are supported to undertake physical activity based on their own values and priorities.
- **5.11** Care partners are provided with the right information and support to enable people with frailty to keep active, reduce falls and prevent deconditioning.

What does the standard mean for people?

- You will be encouraged and supported to keep active as you age.
- You will be supported to focus on daily activities and movement that are important and useful for you.
- You will have a care plan to keep you safe if you are likely to have a fall.
- You will have access to technology that can either detect when a fall has happened or allow you to call for help following a fall.
- If you have a fall, you will be able to access appropriate support and rehabilitation.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- work with people to understand their needs, priorities and goals
- have the right knowledge and experience to promote keeping active and encourage independence
- undertake an assessment of a person's risk of falling and act on it
- work in partnership across different sectors to reduce the risk of falls
- understand the important role of care partners in promoting and encouraging meaningful activity
- are aware of and follow referral pathways for rehabilitation across the health and social care partnership.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- demonstrate strong leadership to balance the safety of older people with the promotion of independence and physical activity
- have processes and protocols in place to manage the risk of falls
- have systems in place for assessing and providing appropriate technology and equipment
- develop and review high quality, accurate information on safer mobility in a range of different languages and formats.

- Data on length of stay in hospital, falls and readmission rates due to falls.
- Use of activity charts.
- Community prehabilitation and rehabilitation programmes.
- Pathways that trigger a polypharmacy review to ensure medications are considered as a potential contributory factor in a fall.
- Pathways in place to trigger a comprehensive review of potential reasons for falls.

Standard 6: Nutrition and hydration

Standard statement

Older people with frailty have their nutritional and hydration needs identified and met.

Rationale

Nutrition in older people has been identified by the World Health Organization as a key priority area for healthy ageing. ⁴⁹ Poor quality of diet, including the lack of intake of key micronutrients, may lead to loss or reduction in muscle mass, decline in immune or cognitive function and unintentional weight loss. ^{50, 51} Excess calories may also be associated with poor quality of diet. Some chronic conditions can affect mobility or swallowing, which can impact a person's nutritional intake and their enjoyment of eating and drinking.

Malnutrition is common in older people with frailty. ⁵²⁻⁵⁴ Up to one third of people over 65 requiring hospital admission and 40% of care home residents are at risk of malnutrition. ⁵⁵ Improving the early identification and treatment of malnutrition can have a positive effect on quality of life, recovery, rehabilitation, length of stay and readmission rates. ^{52, 54, 56}

Eating and drinking has important social and cultural components. A person's dignity and rights should be upheld when they need to be supported to eat and drink. When someone is dying, a gradual reduction in oral intake is natural. At this time, people and their care partners should be supported to focus on enjoying food and the social interaction associated with eating and drinking.

Criteria

- **6.1** Staff undertake a nutritional care assessment for people at risk of frailty that includes:
 - relevant physical measurements
 - food allergies or intolerances
 - eating and drinking likes and dislikes
 - cultural, ethnic or religious dietary requirements
 - social and environmental mealtime requirements
 - the need for help and support with eating and drinking.
- **6.2** People at risk of malnutrition are able to access:
 - supplements for micronutrients including vitamin D
 - fortified or high calorie foods.

- 6.3 People have access to an assessment by an appropriate healthcare professional for support with swallowing, including:
 - speech and language assessment and advice
 - alternative formulation, routes or dosing of medicines
 - modifications to textures of food and drink
 - supplements that do not require swallowing, if assessed as appropriate
 - posture and physical requirements.
- **6.4** Organisations have agreed referral pathways for support with eating and drinking.
- People are supported to eat with others, including their family or communities, if they wish.
- People are given the time, equipment and assistance to eat and drink in line with their informed choices.
- **6.7** Staff are adequately trained to identify and meet people's individual nutritional needs.
- 6.8 Care partners are supported to understand people's changing nutritional and hydration needs and choices, particularly when the person they care for is very frail or dying.
- 6.9 Organisations signpost to community and social care organisations that may be able to assist people with their food, fluid and nutritional care, for example community food initiatives, food co-ops, shopping services and meal services.
- **6.10** Staff undertake ongoing reviews of clinically-assisted nutrition and hydration, taking into account a person's choices.
- **6.11** A person's religious and philosophical beliefs in relation to food and diet are adhered to in all settings.

What does the standard mean for people?

- You will be supported with enough time to eat and drink and have access to equipment that you may need to help you with this.
- Any medical interventions to support your nutrition will be the least invasive or restrictive and reviewed regularly.
- Your choices and requirements about eating and drinking will be respected.
- You will be supported to understand how what you eat and drink impacts on your physical health and wellbeing.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- are able to provide basic dietary advice for an older person living with frailty
- recognise and respond appropriately to signs of dehydration
- respect and support decisions related to eating and drinking
- support people to make informed decisions about clinically-assisted nutrition and hydration.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- have processes to identify and address people's nutrition and hydration
- provide equipment and access to specialist input to support people to eat and drink
- design systems and processes to support choice
- enable people to eat and drink with others.

- Protocols for nutrition and hydration screening and assessments.
- Reduced prevalence of malnutrition.
- Evidence of pathways for equitable access to specialist nutrition and hydration support.
- Alternative menus to allow choices about food and drink.
- Protected mealtimes with support from care partners and family.
- Registries or databases of community groups and organisations.

Standard 7: Medicines management

Standard statement

Older people with frailty are supported to discuss and understand the benefits, risks and alternatives of medicines and their medicines are regularly reviewed.

Rationale

People living with frailty often have multiple long-term health conditions that require medication. Older people are more likely to experience side effects and medicines-related harm. People who are taking five or more medications are at a higher risk of falling.⁵⁷

People should be fully informed about medications, their purpose and their side effects. They and their care partners should be supported with medications at home, with access to medication aids when required. The principles of Realistic Medicine should be considered when prescribing for older people with frailty. The use of BRAN (benefits, risks, alternatives and what happens if you do nothing) questions can support people to be involved in decision making, reducing harm and personalising their treatment. For example, as psychotropic medicines in frail older people are associated with several adverse outcomes, their use should be avoided if possible.

Reviewing and stopping unnecessary medication can improve a person's quality of life and reduce anxiety, pain and low moods. ⁵⁹ Reviews should take into account a person's whole circumstances, including sensory impairments, comorbidities and their choices and preferences. ⁶⁰ Where possible, prescribers should consider non-medical or non-pharmacological methods of treating side effects. Sustainable, nature-based 'blue green' prescribing can support people to access activities and outdoor space. ⁶¹ This may improve mental health and chronic pain, reduce pollution and prevent antimicrobial resistance. ³⁹

Reducing unwarranted prescribing of antibiotics is important to help reduce antimicrobial resistance. In general, reducing unwarranted prescribing also reduces any harmful health effects of climate change.

As people become increasingly frail, their life expectancy falls and the priorities of treatment can often change. Instead of prescribing to reduce the risk of potential 'major events' and for general life prolongation, the focus can move to symptom control and reducing harm. When a person is dying it is often appropriate to reduce or stop regular medication and to consider 'just in case medication' that can be accessed quickly if and when required.

Criteria

7.1 People taking five or more medicines, or any high-risk medicine for frail older people, such as anticholinergics, antipsychotic, receive an annual person-centred medication review led by an appropriate healthcare professional.

- **7.2** When prescribing medications, staff have a discussion with the person about:
 - the benefits
 - the risk of medication causing harm
 - alternatives to prescribing
 - the likely outcome of not prescribing the medicine.
- **7.3** Staff contribute to and can access a single pharmaceutical care plan for each person with frailty.
- **7.4** People receive medicines reconciliation:
 - within 24 hours of admission to an acute care setting
 - when they are discharged from hospital or when they move between health or care settings.
- **7.5** Structured medication reviews using a seven-step approach are considered when there is a change in a person's health, choice or circumstances or as part of preparation for planned surgery.
- **7.6** People who have been discharged from hospital receive an appropriate supply of medication.
- **7.7** People are supported to:
 - discuss their medication, including experience of side effects and any concerns they have, with an appropriately trained professional
 - manage and self-administer their medication
 - set targets for pain and chronic disease management in partnership with healthcare professionals
 - understand the purpose of their medication
 - encouraged to take their medication within the principles of informed choice.
- **7.8** Organisations demonstrate safe and rights-based procedures for appropriate administration of medications where:
 - a person does not have capacity
 - covert medication is being considered.
- **7.9** Changes to a person's medication are communicated across the multidisciplinary team in consultation with the person.

- **7.10** Medicines for pain and symptom management are prescribed and given in line with current guidelines.
- **7.11** People and their care partners are involved in decisions about the supply and use of 'just in case' medicines if they are dying.
- **7.12** People who are dying have medicines stopped where appropriate.

7.13 Care partners:

- receive information about medication, including possible side effects
- receive information and guidance to support the person to take their medication
- are informed about any changes to medication and the reason for the change.

What does the standard mean for people?

- You will have the opportunity to discuss the risks and benefits of any medication before it is prescribed.
- You will be supported to understand what your medication is for and what side effects you may experience.
- You will be able to access the correct medication in the correct form when you need it.
- You will be supported to take your medication.
- If you are on many different medications, these will be reviewed annually to check they are still right for you.
- Your care partner(s) will have the information and guidance they need to support you to discuss and take your medication.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- prescribe medication in line with best practice and current guidelines
- ensure people are able to make informed choices about their medicines and are supported to take them
- have an awareness that older people with frailty are more likely to experience side effects from medication
- conduct regular medication reviews using a structured approach.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- demonstrate a good understanding of medication reconciliation, polypharmacy reviews and a Realistic Medicine approach to prescribing
- have systems and processes in place for seven-step polypharmacy reviews
- provide training and support to staff undertaking medication reviews.

- Documentation in clinical notes that a polypharmacy review has taken place.
- Covert medications policies.
- Just in Case medication policy.
- Health and Social Care Medication Policy.
- Medicines Reconciliation Policy.
- Electronic pharmacy records accessed across care settings.
- Use of electronic systems and other systems and processes, for example Hospital Electronic Prescribing Medication and Administration, Medication Administration Recording and Requesting.
- Electronic Discharge Document shared with appropriate people and services.

Standard 8: Living and dying well

Standard statement

People's wellbeing and enjoyment of older age is maximised and they are enabled to live well until the end of their life.

Rationale

Frailty can challenge a person's sense of self. It can affect how they are perceived and treated by others, including health and care professionals. Feeling valued, respected and able to take part in meaningful activities is important for quality of life and can prevent or delay significant health or social care needs.⁶² People's life and their choices about how they live it should be respected and enabled as they grow older.

People's wellbeing and how they live their lives is impacted by range of things. As people age, they may need support to adapt to changes in their life and health. Declining health and loss of abilities may affect a person's wellbeing and their engagement with the world and with others. ²⁰ Pain, illness, falls and loss of memory may challenge a person's sense of identity, meaning and purpose.

Social connection is integral to most people's positive mental and spiritual wellbeing. Social isolation and loneliness is associated with physical health conditions such as cardiovascular disease and stroke. Social connection, including community connection and activity, has a positive impact on cognition and may delay the onset of dementia. Social prescribing can support people to access community groups.

Frailty may lead to incontinence and bladder and bowel issues. These can significantly impact quality of life, dignity and daily activity. Sensory impairment, particularly vision and hearing, is common in older people. If not corrected, it can have a negative impact on their ability to engage with others and the world around them. Services should promote multidimensional wellbeing and enable daily activities that matters to people.

Older people with frailty may have thoughts and questions about their future.⁶⁵ People living with frailty should have opportunities to talk about spiritual or cultural matters, including death and dying and the meaning of life for them. Staff should be receptive to these questions. They should support people to access spiritual or specialist palliative care.

Staff should be trained and supported to have open conversations with people about what matters to them as their health declines. Future care planning should be offered if a person's health is declining or likely to decline. People who are dying should have pain and other symptoms well managed to keep them comfortable. They should be treated with dignity and their spiritual or cultural needs, as well as those of their care partners, should be respected and addressed.

- **8.1** People are supported to access fundamental aspects of personal care to promote wellbeing and daily function, including:
 - their likelihood of developing pressure ulcers
 - personal hygiene
 - dignified management of continence issues
 - oral care
 - hearing and sight loss.
- 8.2 Organisations support people's wider activities of daily living such as leisure, activities, interests and vocation.
- **8.3** People are supported to access activities and programmes to support their social, spiritual and mental wellbeing.
- 8.4 Organisations support people to access and maintain community connection and reduce social isolation through referral pathways and informal partnerships.
- **8.5** People have access to support services and equipment to support independence and manage activities at home.
- **8.6** People can access non-pharmaceutical advice and management for pain, breathlessness, fatigue or poor appetite.
- **8.7** Organisations have processes to identify and respond to distress, confusion, grief and anxiety.
- **8.8** People and their care partners are supported to adjust to changes in their life, including loss and bereavement.
- 8.9 People are involved in decisions about activities that may cause harm to them and enabled to make choices in line with their values and enjoyment.
- **8.10** People are enabled and supported to have:
 - honest, compassionate conversations about living well with deteriorating health
 - early discussions about palliative care and the support available for people and their care partners
 - conversations about what happens when someone is dying
 - information about care and treatment options they have when they are dying.

8.11 People who are dying receive:

- involvement in decisions, including about where to die
- a holistic assessment of their needs
- rapid and responsive advice, information and support at any time
- dignity and compassion
- personalised care
- necessary equipment and medicines.

What does the standard mean for people?

- Your life and how you want to live it will be respected.
- You will receive the support and care you need for daily activities, leisure and things that are important to you.
- You will be supported to maintain your social networks, activities and contact with your local community if you want to.
- You will be supported by staff, care partners and services to live as well as possible for as long as possible.
- If your health declines, you will be supported in ways that matter to you.
- If you are dying, you will be cared for in ways that mean you are comfortable and safe, with involvement of the people that matter to you.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- support people to live their lives as well as possible in line with their values
- are able to talk with people about healthy living and wellbeing as well as declining health, loss, dying and death
- apply best practice relating to capacity, informed decision making and rights of individuals to make decisions that may involve balancing risks and benefits
- help people to access services and voluntary and community initiatives which would promote their wellbeing
- recognise and respond to cultural and spiritual needs of people living with frailty throughout their illness, from diagnosis to death and bereavement
- recognise when a person is dying and provide high quality care around death in line with best practice.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- plan and design services to promote multidimensional wellbeing and enable daily activities that matter to people
- actively promote effective relationships between statutory and voluntary organisations, communities, public bodies and other agencies that facilitate wellbeing for older people living with frailty
- have processes and procedures in place to support dignity, respect and personcentred care when a person is dying
- ensure equity of access to specialist palliative care across settings where people
 with frailty are likely to be, including care homes, community hospitals and acute
 hospitals.

- Use of regular prompts about how someone feels about their wellbeing.
- Documenting referral onto other agencies to support wellbeing.
- Commissioning data for community wellbeing and healthcare services.
- Evidence of social prescribing to community groups, activities and social clubs.

Standard 9: Care in hospital

Standard statement

Frail older people in hospital receive equitable, compassionate and safe care that promotes wellbeing and reduces the risk of harm.

Rationale

Frail older people make up a large proportion of hospital patients. All hospital-based staff should understand the needs of older people with frailty. This includes during acute assessments in emergency departments and assessment wards, inpatient wards, outpatient clinics and when planning for elective surgery. Attending hospital may be the opportunity to identify and recognise frailty, or to take measures that reduce the progression of frailty. In Scotland, a CGA in acute admission to care of older people services is directly linked to length of hospital stay.⁶⁶

Inpatient stays may lead to a decrease in physical activity, to incontinence and to communication issues that result from unrecognised sight or hearing loss. Lights or noise in hospital wards may increase distress and delirium in people with frailty.⁶⁷ People with frailty are at increased risk of healthcare associated infections. Identifying people with frailty in acute care should not prevent full, timely access to high dependency units, intensive care units, surgery and other appropriate treatments.

Upon discharge from hospital, it is essential that the individual and those that will be continuing to support them have sufficient information about what happened during their hospital stay. This should include any changes to medication or follow-up that the individual requires. Under the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016, carers should be involved in discussions about discharge.²²

One in three acute hospital beds in Scotland is being used by people who are within their last year of life. These people are predominantly older people with frailty. Delays in recognising and acknowledging dying in hospital often lead to treatments that may be unnecessary or exacerbate suffering. Support and care, including communication with care partners, is essential for high quality care around the time of death.

- **9.1** NHS boards have appropriate risk assessed frailty pathways for caring for people in all hospital areas, including emergency care, surgery and mental health.
- 9.2 People in hospital are screened for frailty and have prompt access to a multidisciplinary frailty team, if appropriate, for support, advice or transfer of care.

- **9.3** Wards caring for people who may be at risk of frailty:
 - have appropriate lighting and noise levels for the time of day
 - provide a private space for older frail people who are dying
 - are designed to promote safe mobility and routine activity
 - provide information that aids communication, for example large signage
 - support people's care partners, friends and families to visit
 - promote healthy sleep and encourage a normal sleep pattern
 - promote wellbeing and demonstrate a human rights-based approach to their stay in hospital.
- **9.4** Staff in hospitals promote and enable:
 - dignity and privacy
 - independence
 - engagement in activity
 - continence
 - skin care
 - oral health.
- **9.5** People with frailty are not moved between wards or into areas not dedicated to patient care unless it is demonstrably in their best interests.
- **9.6** People with frailty can access:
 - life-saving treatment, including access to high dependency or intensive care, where clinically appropriate
 - specialist palliative care
 - rapid discharge to be able to die at home where this is the person's choice and is clinically appropriate.
- **9.7** The care and support needs of people who are delayed from hospital discharge are reviewed weekly.
- **9.8** Services act in the best interests of people who experience being delayed in hospital including:
 - reducing the number of moves between wards and services
 - ensuring equitable access to high quality healthcare
 - integrated working to support discharge planning.
- **9.9** Proactive and early discharge planning and future care planning begins on admission and continues as a person's choice and circumstances change.

9.10 People in hospital have a planned discharge date set and are part of discussions with members of the multidisciplinary team to work towards achieving this.

What does the standard mean for people in hospital?

- You will be cared for in a clinical environment that meets your needs.
- Your care partner is able to visit and keep supporting you, along with other friends and family.
- You will be safe and able to maintain your independence.
- You will have access to specialist support.
- When you are ready to leave hospital, you will be involved in decisions about where you are going and how you will get there.
- If there are changes to plans, you are kept informed.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- recognise and respond to signs of frailty in people in hospital
- undertake assessments in line with their roles and responsibilities
- ensure wards are designed to be dementia-friendly, psychologically-informed, safe and empowering
- support and empower people to maintain physical activity and continence, where possible
- have sufficient and timely information at point of discharge
- share information to enable continuation of care.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- have processes in place to identify people with frailty in all relevant hospital departments
- ensure CGAs are undertaken
- ensure ward environments meet the specific needs of people with frailty
- develop plans and policies to reduce transfer between wards or care settings
- meet the needs and rights of people awaiting discharge.

- Data related to number of people in hospital waiting for discharge.
- Data related to reasons for delayed discharge.
- Data related to where people stay and how long they stay for.
- Readmission rates.

Standard 10: Delirium, dementia and cognition

Standard statement

Older people experiencing a change in their cognition or mental state are identified, understood and supported.

Rationale

Cognition is the act of thinking, perceiving and understanding. Delirium is an altered state of consciousness characterised by episodes of confusion.⁶⁸ It may affect memory, thinking and ability to perform activities of daily living.

People in hospital or long-term care are at higher risk of delirium and the serious negative consequences associated with it.⁶⁹ Delirium carries with it an increased risk of falls, a longer hospital stay and mortality. Staff should identify and address causes of delirium such as a person's environment, medications or health factors (for example, dehydration.)^{68, 69}

Older people are more at risk of dementia. Frailty is also independently associated with increased risk of dementia. Frail older people living with dementia are at higher risk of delirium, infection, malnutrition, dehydration, constipation and falls when they are admitted to hospital.⁶⁴

All healthcare practitioners should assess a person's capacity to consent to their treatments as part of routine care. When a cognitive impairment is observed, staff should undertake a formal assessment. Staff should understand the relevant legislation at a level appropriate to their practice. This includes understanding the legal requirement to discuss with legal proxies and those close to the person when they do not have full capacity for decision making.⁷⁰

- 10.1 Identification and further assessment of changes in cognition, delirium and dementia is based on:
 - brief cognitive tests
 - neuropsychological assessment as appropriate⁷¹
 - the person's circumstances and experience
 - information from care partners and staff members.
- 10.2 Information about a person's cognition, including previous episodes of delirium or a diagnosis of dementia, is shared between services and staff.
- **10.3** Screening and personalised risk reduction strategies are provided to those at risk of delirium.

- 10.4 Staff are aware of the potential impact of medicines and medicine withdrawals on cognitive function and apply this knowledge during medication reviews.
- 10.5 People with a cognitive impairment are provided with personalised management plans and communication strategies.
- **10.6** People with a cognitive impairment feel safe, involved and well cared for in their care environment.
- **10.7** Staff assess capacity to consent throughout all care and specifically when a cognitive diagnosis is made.
- **10.8** Staff caring for people with a cognitive impairment:
 - use appropriate legislation to safeguard them
 - involve next of kin or legal proxies in decisions.
- **10.9** The care partners of people with dementia, delirium or cognitive impairment are provided with support and information.

What does the standard mean for people?

- Any concerns about your memory, thinking or understanding will be addressed.
- Your care, including the medicines you take and the place you are cared for, will take account of any delirium, dementia or cognitive problems you have.
- Staff will talk to you about your care in a way that you can understand.
- Staff will carefully assess your ability to make decisions. They will involve your legal proxies or next of kin in decisions about your care if you are unable to make decisions for yourself.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- understand appropriate responses and management options for people living with cognitive impairment
- know which services are available to help support people with cognitive impairment and how to access support at the right time
- share information about a person's cognitive ability where appropriate
- understand the importance of capacity and consent, how to assess it and what to do if a person cannot consent
- can help support people who are experiencing stress or distress.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- have clear processes and procedures to identify, assess and manage cognitive impairments
- provide training to staff on how to prevent, recognise and respond to delirium
- provide relevant information to people and their care partners in a format and language that is understandable and accessible
- provide care in an environment that minimises the risk of delirium.

- Monitored outcomes of people admitted into hospital with cognitive change, dementia and delirium.
- Waiting time for specialist psychiatry input.
- Education materials in place, with appropriate counselling or support services (including spiritual needs).
- Use of screening tools and assessment for diagnosis of cognitive change.

Standard 11: Mental health

Standard statement

Older people with frailty have their mental health assessed and supported.

Rationale

Mental health is a state of mental wellbeing that enables people to cope with the stresses of life, realise their abilities, learn well and work well.³ It is about life satisfaction, optimism, self-esteem, feeling in control, having a purpose and a sense of belonging and support.⁷²

Older people with frailty may experience depression, loneliness and low levels of satisfaction and wellbeing.⁷³ Depression can exacerbate isolation, disempowerment and cognitive decline.³ Taking part in meaningful activities, maintaining and developing personal identity, and getting the right help for any health conditions and sensory impairments are key to improving mental wellbeing.

Older people with frailty are likely to display anxiety. Anxiety is more likely to be undiagnosed or normalised as an appropriate response to falls and is linked to adverse health outcomes.⁷⁴

Older people may have mental health conditions that they have lived with through their lifetime, or they may develop them later in life. People taking antipsychotic medications may experience cardiometabolic side-effects that cause cognitive impairment. This should be taken into account when undertaking mental health and wellbeing assessments.

- **11.1** People's mood and psychological status are assessed and recognised during:
 - holistic assessments, including CGA
 - ongoing care planning
 - change in care setting
 - communication and shared decision making.
- Organisations regularly and proactively screen for mental health conditions in people with frailty.
- 11.3 Staff identify older people who are at high risk of frailty due to mental health conditions, medication side-effects, substance use or socioeconomic circumstances.

- Older people with frailty and mental health conditions have access to appropriate evidence-based management and treatment, including medication and talking therapies.
- **11.5** Inpatient mental health care, if required, is:
 - rights-based
 - safe
 - therapeutic
 - adapted to meet a person's needs and level of frailty.
- Organisations identify barriers to people accessing care related to their mental health and proactively seek to overcome those barriers.
- 11.7 People with long-term or enduring mental health conditions have equitable access to physical health interventions to manage frailty.
- 11.8 Prescriptions of psychoactive medications, including antidepressants and sedatives, are considered and reviewed regularly.

What does the standard mean for people?

- Your mood, mental health and psychological state will be recognised, assessed and cared for.
- Staff will take account of any mental health or psychological issues you have when they are caring for you.
- You will be referred for specialised mental health care if you need it.

What does the standard mean for staff?

Staff:

- routinely assess the mental health of older people at risk of frailty
- understand appropriate responses and treatment options for people with mental health conditions
- understand the importance of mental wellbeing and the factors that contribute to good mental health
- work with specialist mental health team to support older people with frailty.

What does the standard mean for the organisation?

Organisations:

- have systems and processes in place to identify and respond to the mental health needs of older people with frailty
- have referral pathways to specialist input where required.

- Referral pathways to mental health treatment.
- Implementation of mental health standards.
- Consistent screening for depression, mental health and wellbeing in people with or at risk of frailty.

Appendix 1: Development of the ageing and frailty standards

The standards have been informed by current evidence, best practice recommendations and have been developed by group consensus.

Evidence base

At the start of the standards development process, the project team carried out a literature search to identify qualitative and quantitative studies that addressed patient issues of relevance to the delivery of services. Databases searched include Medline, Embase, Cinahl and PsycINFO.

We undertook a systematic review of the literature using an explicit search strategy devised by an Evidence and Information Scientist from the Research and Information Service. We searched databases including Medline, Embase, Cinahl, PsycINFO and the Cochrane Library. The year range covered was 2000-2022. Members of the Standards Development Group supplemented the main searches with other material that they identified.

A Health Services Researcher adopted a systematic approach to provide an evidence base for these standards. Eligibility criteria was devised to support the literature sift. Articles were included if they were:

- guidelines
- systematic reviews
- empirical evidence providing practice guidance
- English language only
- relevant to Scotland
- focused on a population including older adults with frailty.

Articles were excluded if they did not provide substantive reference to frailty. The project team summarised the results and presented them to the Standards Development Group.

Standards development

Each standard is underpinned with the views and expectations of health care staff, third sector representatives, people accessing the service and the public. Information has been gathered from a number of sources and activities, including Standards Development Group meetings and a consultation survey on the draft scope.

Consultation feedback and finalisation of standards

Following consultation, the Standards Development Group will reconvene to review all comments received and make final decisions and changes. More information can be found in the consultation feedback report which will be available on the HIS website.

Quality assurance

All Standards Development Group members were responsible for advising on the professional aspects of the standards. Clinical members of the Standards Development Group advised on clinical aspects of the work. The co-chairs had lead responsibility for formal clinical assurance and sign off on the technical and professional validity and acceptability of any reports or recommendations from the group.

All Standards Development Group members made a declaration of interest at the beginning of the project. They also reviewed and agreed to the Standards Development Group's terms of reference. More details are available on request from his.standardsandindicators@nhs.scot.

The standards were developed within the <u>Operating Framework for Healthcare Improvement Scotland</u> and the Scottish Government (2022), which highlights the principles of independence, openness, transparency and accountability.

For more information about HIS's role, direction and priorities, please visit: www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org/

Appendix 2: Membership of the Standards Development Group

Name	Position	Organisation
Paul Baughan	Co-Chair GP/Professional Advisor for Ageing and Health	NHS Forth Valley/Chief Medical Officer Directorate, Scottish Government
Phyo Kyaw Myint	Co-Chair Professor of Medicine of Old Age and Honorary Consultant Geriatrician	University of Aberdeen/NHS Grampian
James Battye	Senior Improvement Advisor	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Leanne Black	Lead Clinical Pharmacist Frailty	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Anne Blackburn	Retired district nurse/ midwife	Scottish Older People's Assembly (SOPA)
Kirsty Boyd	National Clinical Lead for Palliative Care	Scottish Government
Janice Cameron	Joint National Lead	Scottish Care
Mark Delicata	Consultant Physician— Medicine for the Elderly	NHS Fife
Joanna Earle	Inspector	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Ros Fraser	Speech and Language Therapist	NHS Lothian
Scott Hamilton	Improvement Advisor	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Mhairi Hastings	Associate Director of Nursing	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Chris Hay	Geriatric Registrar	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde

Name	Position	Organisation
Mark Hazelwood	Chief Executive	Scottish Partnership for Palliative Care
Vicky Hough	Senior Clinical Pharmacist	NHS Forth Valley
Lynsey Kemlo	Senior Improvement Adviser	Care Inspectorate
Laura Kerr	Adults Policy and Practice Lead	Social Work Scotland
Kyrsta Macdonald-Scott	Advanced Practice Physiotherapist	NHS Lothian
Phil Mackie	Consultant in Public Health	NHS Grampian
Nicola McArdle	Senior Improvement Adviser	Care Inspectorate
Lucy McCracken	Consultant Geriatrician	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Louise McKay	Nurse Consultant, Older Adults	NHS Forth Valley
Hazel Miller	Consultant Geriatrician	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Jane Mimnaugh	Alzheimer Scotland Nurse Consultant	NHS Lanarkshire
Lara Mitchell	Consultant Medicine for the Elderly National Clinical Lead Frailty	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Susan Moug	Consultant General and Colorectal Surgeon	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Connie Murray	Improvement Advisor	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Shona Omand-Smith	Commissioning Lead	Aberdeen City Health and Social Care Partnership
David Paterson	Chair	Scottish Older People's Assembly (SOPA)
Joy Reid	Nurse Consultant Older People and Frailty	NHS Fife

Name	Position	Organisation
Dawn Skelton	Professor of Ageing and Health, Ageing Well Research Group, Research Centre for Health (ReaCH)	Glasgow Caledonian University
Rowan Wallace	Consultant Older People's MedicineBritish Geriatrics Society Scotland	NHS Ayrshire and Arran
Eilaine White	Clinical Academic Nurse Consultant for older people	NHS Tayside/University of Dundee

Appendix 3: Membership of the Standards Steering Group

Name	Position	Organisation
Paul Baughan	Development Group Co- Chair GP/Professional Advisor for Ageing and Health	NHS Forth Valley/Chief Medical Officer Directorate, Scottish Government
Phyo Kyaw Myint	Development Group Co- Chair Professor of Medicine of Old Age and Honorary Consultant Geriatrician	University of Aberdeen/NHS Grampian
Harriette Campbell	Vice-chair	Scottish Older People's Assembly (SOPA)
Jacqueline Dennis	Senior Improvement Adviser	Care Inspectorate
Mark Evans	National Spiritual Care Strategic Advisor Operational Lead	Scottish Government
Jennifer MacDonald	Inspector - Quality of Care	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Lucy McCracken	Consultant Geriatrician	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
Marie McKerry	Chief Nurse	Care Inspectorate
Winifred McLure	Senior Inspector – Quality Assurance Directorate	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Lara Mitchell	Consultant Medicine for the Elderly National Clinical Lead Frailty	NHS Greater Glasgow and Clyde
David Paterson	Chair	Scottish Older People's Assembly (SOPA)

Name	Position	Organisation
Marie Paterson	Chief Inspector for Adult Services	Care Inspectorate
Belinda Robertson	Associate Director of Improvement	Healthcare Improvement Scotland
Fiona Wardell	Standards and Indicators Lead	Healthcare Improvement Scotland

References

- 1. HIS ihub. Improving care and support for people living with frailty in Scotland. 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://ihub.scot/media/9183/improving-care-and-support-for-people-living-with-frailty-in-scotland.pdf.
- 2. Medicine NLo. Frailty and Multimorbidity: A Systemic Review and Meta-analysis. 2019.
- 3. Chief Medical Officer. Annual Report 2023 Health in an Ageing Society. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65562ff2d03a8d000d07faa6/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2023-web-accessible.pdf.
- 4. British Journal of General Practice AC, Duncan Edwards, Amelia Harshfield, Kirsty Rhodes, James Brimicombe, Rupert Payne and Simon Griffin. The epidemiology of multimorbidity in primary care: a retrospective cohort study. 2024.
- 5. British Geriatrics Society. Fit for Frailty Part 1: Consensus best practice guidance for the care of older people living in community and outpatient settings. 2017 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.bgs.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/resources/files/2018-05-23/fff full.pdf.
- 6. Ji L, Jazwinski SM, Kim S. Frailty and Biological Age. Annals of Geriatric Medicine and research. 2021;25(3):141-9.
- 7. Older People's Commissioner for Wales. United Nations Principles for Older Persons. 2024 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://olderpeople.wales/about/publication-scheme/our-policies/un-
- principles/#:~:text=Older%20persons%20should%20be%20able%20to%20live%20in%20dignity%20and, independently%20of%20their%20economic%20contribution.
- 8. Scottish Government. Health and Social Care Standards: my support, my life. 2017 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/health-social-care-standards-support-life/.
- 9. United Nations. International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. 1966 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments- mechanisms/instruments/international-covenant-economic-social-and-cultural-rights.
- 10. United Nations. Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women New York, 18 December 1979. 1979 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from:
- $\underline{https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-elimination-all-forms-discrimination-against-women.}$
- 11. United Nations. Convention On The Rights Of Persons With Disabilities (CRPD). 2006 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://social.desa.un.org/issues/disability/crpd/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities-crpd.
- 12. United Nations. General comment No, 22 (2016) on the right to sexual and reproductive health (article 12 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights). 2016 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from:
- https://docstore.ohchr.org/SelfServices/FilesHandler.ashx?enc=4slQ6QSmlBEDzFEovLCuW1a0Szab0oX TdlmnsJZZVQfQejF41Tob4CvljeTiAP6sGFQktiae1vlbbOAekmaOwDOWsUe7N8TLm%2BP3HJPzxjHySkUo HMavD%2Fpyfcp3Ylzg.
- 13. Scottish Government. Realistic Medicine Doing the right thing: Chief Medical Officer annual report 2022 to 2023. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from:

https://www.gov.scot/publications/realistic-medicine-doing-right-thing-cmo-annual-report-2022-2023/.

- 14. Scottish Parliament. Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000. 2000 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2000/4/contents.
- 15. Scottish Government. My Health, My Care, My Home healthcare framework for adults living in care homes. 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/health-care-home-healthcare-framework-adults-living-care-homes/.
- 16. Scottish Government. Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019: overview. 2024 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/health-and-care-staffing-scotland-act-2019-overview/.
- 17. Scottish Government. Palliative Care Strategy. 2024 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/policies/illnesses-and-long-term-conditions/palliative-and-end-of-life-care/.
- 18. COSLA. Dementia in Scotland: Everyone's Story. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-plan/2023/05/new-dementia-strategy-scotland-everyones-story/documents/dementia-scotland-everyones-story/govscot%3Adocument/dementia-scotland-everyones-story.pdf.
- 19. Scottish Government. Health and social care: data strategy. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/data-strategy-health-social-care-2/.
- 20. Scottish Government. Discovering meaning, purpose and hope through person centred wellbeing and spiritual car: framework. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/discovering-meaning-purpose-hope-through-person-centred-well-being-spiritual-care-national-framework/.
- 21. Scottish Government. Getting it right for everyone (GIRFE). 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/getting-it-right-for-everyone-girfe/.
- 22. Scottish Government. Carers (Scotland) Act 2016: statutory guidance updated July 2021. 2021 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/carers-scotland-act-2016-statutory-guidance-updated-july-2021/pages/3/.
- 23. British Geriatrics Society. Joining the Dots: A blueprint for preventing and managing frailty in older people. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.bgs.org.uk/policy-and-media/joining-the-dots-a-blueprint-for-preventing-and-managing-frailty-in-older-people.
- 24. NHS Inform. Realistic Medicine. 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.nhsinform.scot/care-support-and-rights/nhs-services/using-the-nhs/realistic-medicine.
- 25. Scottish Government. Charter of patient rights and responsibilities revised: June 2022. 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/charter-patient-rights-responsibilities-revised-june-2022/.
- 26. Ambagtsheer RC, Visvanathan R, Dent E, Yu S, Schultz TJ, Beilby J. Commonly Used Screening Instruments to Identify Frailty Among Community-Dwelling Older People in a General Practice (Primary Care) Setting: A Study of Diagnostic Test Accuracy. The Journals of Gerontology. 2020;75(6):1134-42.
- 27. Uddin ASMA. The Era of AI: Upholding Ethical Leadership. Open Journal of Leadership. 2023;12(4).
- 28. West I, Allen L. Embedding an ethical AI culture. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://kpmg.com/uk/en/blogs/home/posts/2023/01/embedding-an-ethical-ai-culture.html.

- 29. Scottish Government. A Changing Nation: How Scotland will Thrive in a Digital World. 2021 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from:
- https://www.gov.scot/binaries/content/documents/govscot/publications/strategy-plan/2021/03/a-changing-nation-how-scotland-will-thrive-in-a-digital-world/documents/a-changing-nation-pdf-version/govscot%3Adocument/DigiStrategy.FINAL.APR21.pdf.
- 30. Scottish Government. Health and Social Care winter preparedness plan 2023-2024. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/health-social-care-winter-preparedness-plan-2023-24/.
- 31. Scottish Government. Artificial intelligence strategy: trustworthy, ethical and exclusive. 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/scotlands-ai-strategy-trustworthy-ethical-inclusive/.
- 32. Scottish Government. Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019: statutory guidance. 2024 [cited 2024 Apr 04]; Available from: https://rightdecisions.scot.nhs.uk/realistic-medicine-national-toolkit-for-professionals/quick-access-to-patient-care-resources/bran-helping-patients-ask-the-right-questions/.
- 33. Bianca Buurman FM, Simon Conroy. Silver Book II: Holistic assessment of older people. 2021.
- 34. World Health Organization. Continuity and coordination of care A practice brief to support implementation of the WHO Framework on integratd people-centred health services. 2018 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/274628/9789241514033-eng.pdf?isAllowed=y&sequence=1.
- 35. Walsh N, Sarandy Sd. The practice of collaborative leadership Across health and care services. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/2023-07/The-practice of collaborative leadership.pdf.
- 36. Scottish Care. A bereavement charter for children and adults in Scotland. 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://scottishcare.org/bereavement/.
- 37. Takatori K M. Social factors associated with reversing frailty progression in community-dwelling late-stage elderly people: An observational study. . 2021.
- 38. Care Inspectorate. Care....About physical activity (CAPA) improvement programme: phase 2 final evaluation report March 2020. 2020 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.ukactive.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/CAPA-Phase-2-Final-Evaluation-Report-March-2020.pdf.
- 39. National Academy for Social Prescribing. Green Social Prescribing Toolkit. 2023 [cited 2024 Apr 04]; Available from: https://socialprescribingacademy.org.uk/media/3ozd3tv2/nhs-green-social-prescribing-toolkit.pdf.
- 40. Marie Polley, Helen Seers, Alison Fixsen. Evaluation Report of the Social Prescribing Demonstrator Site in Shropshire Final Report. 2019 [cited; Available from: https://42b7de07-529d-4774-b3e1-225090d531bd.filesusr.com/ugd/14f499 131547f575344dcdbf4c8281f80ea18c.pdf.
- 41. Shoma Akaida TT, Yuki Nakai, Michio Maruta, Yoshiaki Taniguchi, Kazutoshi Tomioka, Nana Sato, Ayumi Wada, Hyuma Makizako,. Are satisfaction and performance of meaningful activities associated with frailty in older adults?,. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2023.
- 42. Royal College of Occupational Therapists. RCOT Practice Guildelines. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.rcot.co.uk/practice-resources/rcot-practice-guidelines.

- 43. Care Inspectorate. Care... about physical activity. 2014 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://hub.careinspectorate.com/media/1119/care-about-physical-activity-in-care-homes-in-scotland.pdf.
- 44. BMJ Best Practice. Assessment of Falls in the elderly. 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://bestpractice-bmj-com.knowledge.idm.oclc.org/topics/en-gb/880.
- 45. NHS Inform. Why falls matter. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.nhsinform.scot/healthy-living/preventing-falls/why-falls-matter#:~:text=1%20in%203%20people%20over,after%20a%20fall%20each%20year.
- 46. British Geriatrics Society. Deconditioning Awareness. 2017 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.bgs.org.uk/resources/deconditioning-awareness.
- 47. Science Direct FL, Rosa Liperoti, Andrea Russo Sarcopenia as a risk factor for falls in elderly individuals: Results from the ilSIRENTE study. 2012.
- 48. Montero-Odasso M, Velde Nvd, Martin FC, Petrovic M, Tan MP, Ryg J, et al. World guidelines for falls prevention and management for older adults: a global initiative. Age Ageing. 2022;51(9).
- 49. Rudnicka E, Napierała P, Podfigurna A, Męczekalski B, Smolarczyk R, Grymowicz M. The World Health Organization (WHO) approach to healthy ageing. Maturitas. 2020.
- 50. Jeejeebhoy KN. Malnutrition, fatigue, frailty, vulnerability, sarcopenia and cachexia: overlap of clinical features. 2012.
- 51. X Hébuterne SB, S M Schneider. Ageing and muscle: the effects of malnutrition, re-nutrition, and physical exercise. 2001.
- 52. Alfonso J Cruz-Jentoft JPB. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. 2010.
- 53. WHO Kristina Norman UH, Matthias Pirlich. Malnutrition in Older Adults—Recent Advances and Remaining Challenges. 2021.
- 54. Stratton R, Green C, Elia M. Disease-related Malnutrition: An Evidence Based Approach to Treatment. British Journal of Nutrition 2007.
- 55. BAPEN. Nutrition Screening Surveys in Hospitals in the UK, 2007-2011. 2014.
- 56. Solah Rasheed RTW. Malnutrition and quality of life in older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. 2013.
- 57. Dhalwani NN, Fahami R, Sathanapally H, Seidu S, Davies MJ, Khunti K. Association between polypharmacy and falls in older adults: a longitudinal study from England.
- 58. NHS Healthcare Improvement Scotland. BRAN: helping patients ask the right questions. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://rightdecisions.scot.nhs.uk/realistic-medicine-national-toolkit-for-professionals/quick-access-to-patient-care-resources/bran-helping-patients-ask-the-right-questions/.
- 59. iSIMPATHY. iSIMPATHY: Evaluation Report. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.isimpathy.eu/uploads/iSIMPATHY Evaluation report ver8 online.pdf.
- 60. Care Inspectorate. Review of medicine management procedures. Guidance for care at home services. 2017 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from:
- https://hub.careinspectorate.com/media/1605/review-of-medicine-management-procedures-guidance-for-care-at.pdf.
- 61. Glasgow Caledonian University. GCU research aims to reduce pharmaceutical pollution in Scotland through 'blue-green prescriptions'. 2023 [cited 2024 Apr 04]; Available from: https://www.gcu.ac.uk/aboutgcu/universitynews/gcu-research-aims-to-reduce-pharmaceutical-

- pollution-in-scotland-through-blue-green-prescriptions#:~:text=%E2%80%9CBlue-green%20prescribing%20is%20a%20response%20to%20pharmaceutical%20pollution.,by%20providing%20people%20with%20environmentally%20sustainable%20health%20interventions.
- 62. Welsh Government. The strategy for older people in Wales 2013-2023. 2013 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/the-strategy-for-older-people-in-wales-2013-2023.pdf.
- 63. Scottish Government. Social isolation and loneliness: Recovering our Connections 2023 to 2026. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/publications/recovering-connections-2023-2026/pages/2/.
- 64. NICE. Dementia: What are the risk factors? 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://cks.nice.org.uk/topics/dementia/background-information/risk-factors/.
- 65. Larsson H, Rämgård M, Bolmsjö I. Older persons' existential loneliness, as interpreted by their significant others an interview study. BMC Geriatrics. 2017;17(1).
- 66. British Geriatrics Society. Scottish Care of Older People (SCoOP) Project. 2021 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.bgs.org.uk/resources/scottish-care-of-older-people-scoop-project.
- 67. Featherstone K, Northcott A. Wandering the wards: an ethnography of hospital care and its consequences for people living with dementia. 2021.
- 68. SIGN. Risk reduction and management of delirium. 2019 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.sign.ac.uk/media/1423/sign157.pdf.
- 69. NICE. Delirium: prevention, diagnosis and management in hospital and long-term care. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg103.
- 70. Scottish Government. Adults with incapacity: forms and guidance. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.gov.scot/collections/adults-with-incapacity-forms-and-guidance/.
- 71. SIGN HIS. SIGN 168 Assessment, diagnosis, care and support for people with dementia and their carers. 2023 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.sign.ac.uk/our-guidelines/assessment-diagnosis-care-and-support-for-people-with-dementia-and-their-carers/.
- 72. World Health Organization. Mental Health. 2022 [cited 2024 Feb 28]; Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-strengthening-our-response.
- 73. Chu WRN, Chang S-FPRN, Ho H-YMA, Lin H-CMSNRN. The Relationship Between Depression and Frailty in Community-Dwelling Older People: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of 84,351 Older Adults. Journal of Nursing Scholarship. 2019;51(5):547-59. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnu.12501.
- 74. Tan M, Bhanu C, Frost R. The association between frailty and anxiety: A systematic review. International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry. 2023;38(5).



You can read and download this document from our website. We are happy to consider requests for other languages or formats. Please contact our Equality and Diversity Advisor on 0141 225 6999 or email contactpublicinvolvement.his@nhs.scot

Healthcare Improvement Scotland

Edinburgh Office Glasgow Office Gyle Square Delta House

1 South Gyle Crescent 50 West Nile Street

Edinburgh Glasgow EH12 9EB G1 2NP

0131 623 4300 0141 225 6999

www.healthcareimprovementscotland.org